
This issue of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin © <enb@iisd.org> is written and edited by Karen Alvarenga, Ph.D., Andrew Brooke, Twig Johnson, Ph.D., Miquel 
Muñoz, and Kunbao Xia. The Digital Editor is Anders Gonçalves da Silva. The Editor is Pamela S. Chasek, Ph.D. <pam@iisd.org> and the Director of IISD Reporting 
Services is Langston James “Kimo” Goree VI <kimo@iisd.org>. The Sustaining Donors of the Bulletin are the Government of the United States of America (through 
the Department of State Bureau of Oceans and International Environmental and Scientific Affairs), the Government of Canada (through CIDA), the Swiss Agency for 
Environment, Forests and Landscape (SAEFL), the United Kingdom (through the Department for International Development - DFID), the Danish Ministry of Foreign 
Affairs, the Government of Germany (through the German Federal Ministry of Environment - BMU, and the German Federal Ministry of Development Cooperation - 
BMZ), the Netherlands Ministry of Foreign Affairs, the European Commission (DG-ENV) and the Italian Ministry for the Environment and Territory General Directorate 
for Nature Protection. General Support for the Bulletin during 2006 is provided by the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), the Government of Australia, 
the Austrian Federal Ministry for the Environment, the New Zealand Ministry of Foreign Affairs and Trade, SWAN International, the Japanese Ministry of Environment 
(through the Institute for Global Environmental Strategies - IGES) and the Japanese Ministry of Economy, Trade and Industry (through the Global Industrial and Social 
Progress Research Institute - GISPRI). Funding for translation of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin into French has been provided by the International Organization of the 
Francophonie (IOF) and the French Ministry of Foreign Affairs. Funding for the translation of the Earth Negotiations Bulletin into Spanish has been provided by the 
Ministry of Environment of Spain. The opinions expressed in the Earth Negotiations Bulletin are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of IISD 
or other donors. Excerpts from the Earth Negotiations Bulletin may be used in non-commercial publications with appropriate academic citation. For information on the 
Bulletin, including requests to provide reporting services, contact the Director of IISD Reporting Services at <kimo@iisd.org>, +1-646-536-7556 or 212 East 47th St. 
#21F, New York, NY 10017, USA. The ENB Team at the IFCS ForumV can be contacted by e-mail at  <miquel@iisd.org> or in room 949 of the venue.

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 
A Reporting Service for Environment and Development Negotiations

Online at http://www.iisd.ca/chemical/ifcs5/

IFCS-V
#5

Published by the International Institute for Sustainable Development (IISD)Vol. 15 No. 140 Friday, 29 September 2006

Earth Negotiations Bulletin

IFCS-V HIGHLIGHTS:
THURSDAY, 28 SEPTEMBER 2006

On Thursday morning, IFCS-V (Forum V) participants met in 
regional groups and then convened in plenary. In the afternoon 
there was a meeting of contributor countries, followed by field 
trips. Working groups met in the evening and late into the night. 

The working groups on precaution, and toys and chemical 
safety met in the evening, followed by the working group on 
heavy metals, and lastly, the working group on the future of 
IFCS. Deliberations continued until 1:30 am. 

IFCS REGIONAL GROUPS
Regional groups met to elect their candidates for IFCS vice-

presidencies and Forum Standing Committee (FSC) seats, and 
to consider the draft documents that had been produced by the 
working groups on toys and chemical safety, precaution, the 
future of IFCS, and heavy metals.

AFRICA: The group nominated Tanzania for Vice President, 
Zambia and Burkina Faso for the FSC seats, and Malawi and 
Angola as alternate members.

On the future of IFCS, the group did not support an option 
for a joint SAICM and IFCS Secretariat. On precaution, the 
region favored providing information to developing countries 
and establishing capacity-building and skill-sharing initiatives 
on tools and approaches for applying precaution. On heavy 
metals, participants supported a chemical convention approach. 
On toys, the group expressed concerns regarding donation of 
contaminated toys from developed countries, and the need 
to look at local informal toy production. The group noted 
a statement that AFRICA REGION will deliver in plenary 
regarding the dumping of hazardous waste in Côte d’Ivoire.

ASIA AND PACIFIC: On future of IFCS, the group 
supported draft text proposing the creation of a working group to 
prepare a decision on the future of IFCS, with the exception of 
JAPAN, which preferred draft text establishing a joint executive 
body and joint secretariat administered by UNEP to implement 
SAICM and IFCS activities. 

On heavy metals, there was disagreement on whether to refer 
to the document as a “declaration” or “statement,” whether to 
include language on “legally binding actions,” and on a financial 
assistance mechanism.

On precaution, the group agreed to the establishment of an 
expert working group to develop a plan of action to implement 
the identified next steps. 

The group nominated Iran for Vice President; China, Republic 
of Korea, and Thailand (ex officio) as FSC members; and Japan, 
Indonesia, and Samoa as FSC alternate members.

CENTRAL & EASTERN EUROPE: The group spent 
most of its allocated time discussing nominations for the vice 
presidency and FSC seats, deciding to support Hungary for the 
presidency of IFCS, and nominating Slovenia for Vice President 
and Belarus and Latvia for FSC seats. Other candidates for FSC 
seats included Slovakia and Hungary.

On precaution, discussions considered adding text regarding 
positive and negative lessons learned from case examples, and 
a reference to a feasibility study on a plan of action. The group 
supported the creation of a working group to prepare a decision 
on the future of IFCS.

LATIN AMERICA & CARIBBEAN: On heavy metals, 
the group agreed on the importance of national inventories, and 
highlighting the links between heavy metals and health. BRAZIL 
suggested waiting until the next UNEP Governing Council 
meeting to address the link to health. There was also wide 
support for retaining language on regulating mercury exports 
and for supporting the call of the AFRICA GROUP for specific 
financial support mechanisms. The Chair mentioned statements 
by Germany and US that they could not consider new financial 
instruments. 

On the future of IFCS, the group supported draft text on the 
creation of a working group to prepare a decision on the future 
of IFCS, and agreed that, based on the information available to 
date, they are not convinced that the full value of IFCS could be 
duplicated in SAICM.

WESTERN EUROPE & OTHERS: Switzerland was 
nominated for Vice President and Germany, Austria and US were 
nominated for the group’s three FSC seats. Discussion on the 
future of IFCS was deferred to the ad hoc working group.

PLENARY
TOYS AND CHEMICAL SAFETY: Chair Shea presented 

a draft text including three recommendations for action on 
precaution, information sharing, and harmonization of standards. 
The INTERNATIONAL POPS ELIMINATION NETWORK, 
opposed by the EUROPEAN COMMISSION and US, asked 
for inclusion of global market surveillance systems involving 
an aggressive sampling programme. NIGERIA underscored 
the importance of the informal toy-manufacturing sector. The 
RUSSIAN FEDERATION said the outcome document should 
require the use of existing research. The US asked for reference 
to an “arrangement of tools and approaches.” Participants agreed 
to further revise the document in the working group.

PRECAUTION: CENTRAL AND EASTERN EUROPE 
REGION, AFRICA REGION, ASIA AND PACIFIC REGION, 
PAN INTERNATIONAL and GERMANY supported the 
establishment of a working group to develop a plan of action for 
the implementation of the identified next steps on precaution. 

http://www.iisd.ca/chemical/ifcs5
mailto:enb@iisd.org
mailto:pam@iisd.org
mailto:kimo@iisd.org
mailto:kimo@iisd.org
mailto:miquel@iisd.org


Friday, 29 September 2006   Vol. 15 No. 140  Page 2 
Earth Negotiations Bulletin

 . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . 

The US opposed, proposing participants be invited to voluntarily 
contribute their experiences and expertise. The CENTER OF 
INTERNATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL LAW suggested a 
parallel approach. Further discussions were deferred to the 
working group.

HEAVY METALS: Chair Babajide presented the draft 
document on heavy metals and urged participants to move 
quickly to reach agreement on bracketed issues. CHILE asked 
for more focus on health issues. GERMANY stressed her 
lack of a mandate to discuss issues relating to new financial 
mechanisms. FINLAND highlighted the need for an international 
legally-binding instrument for mercury and, as appropriate, other 
metals.

The US expressed concern with language presupposing a 
future UNEP GC decision, while DENMARK said the document 
is simply a recommendation providing input from IFCS to 
UNEP.

FUTURE OF THE IFCS: Chair Karlaganis presented a draft 
document, noting that it reflects agreement on areas including the 
need for a “brainstorming” body and the need for institutional 
and resource efficiency. He reported that the major unresolved 
issues include: whether the future institutional arrangements of 
IFCS should be decided at Forum V, or if more time is required; 
how such a decision would be prepared; and whether change to 
the IFCS Terms of Reference would be necessary. 

Asserting that the “house is on fire,” US called for a detailed 
plan of action on the future of IFCS, voiced concern about a 
future lack of funding, and advocated a joint executive body and 
joint secretariat for SAICM and IFCS, to be adopted in 2009. 
MEXICO noted the need to avoid any rivalry with SAICM and 
to take into consideration that SAICM also requires funding. 
The ICFTU emphasized that SAICM and ICCM lack the facility 
for open, transparent discussion involving all stakeholders, and 
warned against a premature decision. The ENVIRONMENTAL 
HEALTH FUND supported formation of a working group 
to report back to IFCS on options regarding integration and 
contribution to SAICM. 

THAILAND, GERMANY and PAN emphasized the value 
of IFCS. PAN listed numerous pledges for financial support 
from non-governmental organizations and private individuals 
towards the future of IFCS, and called upon other governments 
and non-governmental organizations to contribute. GERMANY 
reiterated its €100,000 pledge. SWITZERLAND announced 
financial support of US$50,000 for 2007 and agreed to provide 
free meeting space in Geneva as a further in-kind contribution. 
THAILAND announced a contribution of at least US$75,000 
over three years, subject to government approval. IPEN 
committed to raise US$15,000 to ensure NGO participation 
at Forum VI, as it did at Forum V. The ALLIANCE OF 
PEASANTS IN THE CORDILLERA HOMELAND added a 
symbolic financial pledge, saying that IFCS is an important 
forum for communicating the views of indigenous peoples. 
Financial contributions of between US$500 and US$2,500 each 
were announced by TRINIDAD AND TOBAGO, TANZANIA, 
PHILIPPINES, INTERNATIONAL SOCIETY OF DOCTORS 
FOR THE ENVIRONMENT, AGENDA FOR ENVIRONMENT 
AND RESPONSIBLE DEVELOPMENT TANZANIA, 
and ASIA-PACIFIC ASSOCIATION OF MEDICAL 
TOXICOLOGISTS. NIGERIA pledged an unspecified amount. A 
number of private individuals also pledged contributions.

Delegates discussed an extensive list of topics to be 
considered by the Forum, and discussed the need to prioritize 
particular items. Participants stressed, inter alia, nanoparticles, 
opportunities for substitution, e-waste, health hazards associated 
with chemicals and metals, and water chemistry. The RUSSIAN 
FEDERATION said that priorities must be set in terms of 
the competence of other institutions. The US emphasized the 
importance of achieving consensus on the list of future topics.

AD HOC WORKING GROUPS
TOYS AND CHEMICAL SAFETY: The group modified 

the draft text to address concerns expressed by participants 
in plenary, including references to lack of information, the 
informal sector, and international standards. Reference to a 
global surveillance system was changed to language encouraging 
countries and regions to develop and share the results of 
surveillance of chemical contents of toys, and language was 
introduced on actions towards the elimination of lead and 
mercury.

PRECAUTION: The group agreed on two general areas 
of potential next steps: provision of information including 
tool-kits, practical case examples, and a list of contact points; 
and capacity-building and skill-sharing initiatives, including 
capacity-building workshops, dialogue for sharing lessons, tools 
and approaches, and pilot projects. The group reached consensus 
on text that requests that actions be undertaken between now 
and Forum VI to implement the identified next steps with the 
intention of contributing to the implementation of the SAICM. 
The US proposed, and the group agreed, to text encouraging 
IFCS participants to make available such information, assistance, 
and tools and approaches. Language on a feasibility study for 
developing a plan of action was deleted.

HEAVY METALS: The EU, FINLAND and GERMANY 
suggested language urging IFCS participants to initiate, continue, 
and intensify action, as appropriate, to reduce the supply of 
mercury on a global scale through voluntary measures such as an 
export ban preventing excess mercury from re-entering the global 
market and global phase out of primary production of mercury 
by mining. Following amendments from US, CANADA and 
INTERNATIONAL COUNCIL ON MINING AND METALS, 
the text was agreed. 

Participants agreed the title of the document to be “The 
Budapest Statement on Mercury, Lead and Cadmium,” and to 
invite UNEP GC to strengthen voluntary actions at the global 
level for mercury, lead and cadmium. The group discussed 
substituting “convention” for a “legally binding instrument” in 
mercury and, as appropriate, other metals of global concern. This 
paragraph remains bracketed.

FUTURE OF THE IFCS: The group reconvened at 10:45 
pm with the aim of finalizing the draft resolution. Discussion 
commenced on considering holding future Forum meetings 
back-to-back with other events, for reasons of synergies and 
cost-effectiveness. SWITZERLAND suggested “proposing” 
such action while US preferred “urging.” GERMANY suggested 
referring to “other international meetings” while JAPAN favored 
specifically referring to “ICCM meetings.”

IN THE CORRIDORS
As delegates returned from fi eld trips and the sun set on 

beautiful Budapest, it looked like it would not set on IFCS – yet. 
The corridors were fi lled with sandwiches, coffee and soft drinks 
in preparation for another long night of work. Many participants 
were heard complaining about one negotiating party, saying its 
resistance to internationally binding action on mercury is making 
it lose both credibility and goodwill. However, an observer 
defended this party’s actual action on mercury hazards “on the 
ground” under the UNEP Mercury Partnership Programme, and 
she added that other parties seem to wait for a convention before 
taking action. So much talk about mercury prompted a delegate 
to joke that heavy metals had “out-weighed” other agenda items. 
However, the “heavy” negotiating agenda seemed to be paying 
off, as the Budapest Statement approached completion.

ENB SUMMARY AND ANALYSIS: The Earth Negotiations 
Bulletin summary and analysis of IFSC-V will be available on 
Monday, 2 October 2006 online at http://www.iisd.ca/chemical/
ifcs5/

http://www.iisd.ca/chemical

